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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION

KATHLEEN N. PEDRO
on behalf of herself and all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiff,

V. CIVIL ACTION FILE
NO. 1:15-CV-3735-TWT

EQUIFAX, INC., et al.,
Defendants.

OPINION AND ORDER

Thisis a class action under the Fair @rBeporting Act. It is before the Court
on the Defendants Equifax,drand TransUnion, LLC’s Man to Dismiss [Doc. 38].
For the reasons set forth below, the De#mnts Equifax, In@nd TransUnion, LLC’s
Motion to Dismiss [Doc. 38] is GRANTED.
|. Background
In 1996, the Plaintiff Kathleen Pedro’s parents applied for and obtained a

Capital One credit cardWhen the Plaintiff's parents became ill, they made her an

! Compl. ¥ 16.

T:\ORDERS\15\Pedro\mtdtwt.wpd

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/georgia/gandce/1:2015cv03735/221295/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/georgia/gandce/1:2015cv03735/221295/69/
https://dockets.justia.com/

“authorized user” on their Capital One credit caithe Plaintiff, however, never
became an obligor on the accodithen, in 2014, both of the Plaintiff's parents
passed away, and the Capital One itreatd account went into defadlOn January
25, 2015, the Plaintiff discovered that lveedit score had dropped from 822 to the
low 700s on her credit report fraitme Defendant Equifax, IrcThe Plaintiff learned
that the reason for the drop was a negative credit “hit” arising from her parents’
delinquent credit card accou credit report from the Defendant TransUnion, LLC
also revealed a similar negative credit’Aihe Plaintiff contacted Capital One about
the delinquent account, which resultedGapital One terminating the Plaintiff's
authorized user statds.

Despite the fact that ¢haccount status for the Capital One credit card was

changed to “Account Relationship Termied{’ the delinquent account continued to

2 1d.717.
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4 1d.7109.
5 1d.T20.
© o ld
T d
5 1d. 721
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hurt the Plaintiff's credit scoreHer credit score did not ratuto its previous level
until Capital One removed its entiradeline from her credit reporfsThe Plaintiff
alleges that the negative hit on her credgort “resulted in actual damages in the
form of a reduction in her ability to obtaireclit, an increase in the cost of obtaining
such credit that she was able to seclogs of economic opportunities, and loss of
creditworthiness™

The Plaintiff brought suit, individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated, against TransUnion and Equiféke asserts that the Defendants willfully
violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) of tHeair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA™?
Specifically, she alleges that “the proceshiutilized by Defendants in gathering and
scoring credit information relating to &wtrized users of credit card accounts results
in systematic inaccuracies on thosehauzed user’'s credit reports and credit
scores.®® And, as a result of their unremmble procedures, the Defendants

improperly report the credit histories oftharized users of credit cards. According

° 1d. 722
0 ]d. 1 29.
*1d. 1 30.
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to the Plaintiff, the Defendants knewv should have known about their flawed
procedures because they have receiliedgands of disputes from consumers about
negative credit hits stemming from authorizedr information. Meover, she alleges
that the Defendants are key membershef Consumer Datbindustry Association,
which formulates guidelines fortedit furnishers” like Capital Oné The guidelines
purportedly direct credit furnishers to repibr credit histories of authorized users of
credit cards? Thus, the Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants knew that the credit
furnishers were reporting negative payment history for authorized user information.
The Defendants now move to dismiss.
Il. Legal Standard

A complaint should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) only where it appears that
the facts alleged fail to staae‘plausible” claim for reliet® A complaint may survive
a motion to dismiss for failure to state aiol, however, evenifis “improbable” that
a plaintiff would be able to prove those facts; even if the possibility of recovery is

extremely “remote and unlikely’”In ruling on a motion to dismiss, the court must

14 1d. 7 24.
15 1d. 25.
16 Ashcroft v. Igba) 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009)0FR. Gv. P. 12(b)(6).

1 Bell Atlantic v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007).
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accept the facts pleaded in t@mplaint as true and constrthem in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff® Generally, notice pleading if that is required for a valid
complaint'® Under notice pleading, the plaiifitheed only givethe defendant fair
notice of the plaintiff's claim and the grounds upon which it résts.
I11. Discussion

Section 1681e(b) of the FCRA providkat “[w]henever a consumer reporting
agency prepares a consumer report itldbow reasonable procedures to assure
maximum possible accuracy of the infotroa concerning the individual about whom
the report relates.” While an agency thagligently violates 8 1681e(b) is only liable
for actual damages, an agency that wilif violates § 1681e(b) may be liable for
actual, statutory, or punitive damagéblere, the Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants
willfully violated 8§ 1681e(b) and only seeks statutory and punitive damages. To

recover such damages throwgpurported willful violation of 8 1681e(b), a plaintiff

18 See Quality Foods de Centro Amiea, S.A. v. Latin American

Agribusiness Dev. CorpS.A, 711 F.2d 989, 994-95 (11th Cir. 1983); sd#s0
Sanjuan v. American Bd. éfsychiatry and Neurology, In&0 F.3d 247, 251 (7th
Cir. 1994) (noting that at the pleading@e, the plaintiff “receives the benefit of
imagination”).

9 SeelLombard'’s, Incy. Prince Mfg., Ing.753 F.2d 974, 975 (11th Cir.
1985),cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1082 (1986).

20 SeeErickson v. Pardy$51 U.S. 89, 93 (2007).

2 Seel5U.S.C. §8 16810(a), 1681n(a).
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must sufficiently allege thdl) the agency prepared eraccurate report, and (2) the
inaccuracy was a result of the agency’s willfisregard of reasonable procedures to
ensure maximurpossible accurack.

In determining whether a credit rep® inaccurate under 8 1681e(b), courts
have followed one of two approaches) {(technically accurate” or (2) materially
misleading®® Under the first approach, “a credit reporting agency satisfies its duty
under [§8 1681e(b)] if it produces a report that contains factually correct information
about a consumer that might nonethelbesmisleading or incomplete in some
respect.* This approach was adopted by the Nerh District of Alabama in Heupel

v. Trans Union LLC”® There, the court concludethat requiring the consumer

reporting agencies to ensure each reporoeof material omissions would place too

22 1d.8§81681e(b), 1681n(a); see aBwaudry v. Telecheck Servs. 11679
F.3d 702, 705-06 (6th Cir. 2009) (holding that, when alleging a willful violation of §
1681e(b), a plaintiff does not need titlege consequentiadlamages); Farmer v.
Phillips Agency, Ing.285 F.R.D. 688, 699 n.17 (N.D. Ga. 2012) (noting that to
sustain a claim under § 1681e(b) and 8§ 1681n(a), the plaintiff “no longer needs to
show that damages resultednrohe disclosure of anagccurate consumer report”).

23 See, e.g.Cahlin v. General Motors Acceptance Cpf86 F.2d 1151,
1156-57 (11th Cir. 1991) (discussing the two approaches); Heupel v. Trans Union
LLC, 193 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1240-41 (N.D. Ala. 2002) (same).

24 Cahlin 936 F.2d at 1157.
%5 193 F. Supp. 2d 1234,
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great a burden on the agencieMoreover, it would leave the agencies potentially
liable for omitting information of which they did not kngw.

For the second approach — materialisleading — a credit reporting agency
may be liable “if the plaintiff establisheéisat the agency reported factually correct
information that could also be interped as being misleading or incompletg.”
Though the Eleventh Circuit hastye adopt either approaéhseveral circuits have
adopted the materially misleading appro#dror example, the Btrict of Columbia

Circuit followed this approach iKoropoulos v. Credit Bureau, Ifit Relying on

congressional intent, the court held tt@bngress did not limit the Act’'s mandate to
reasonable procedures to assure onlirtieal accuracy; to thcontrary, the Act

requires reasonable procedureagsure ‘maximum accuracy’*Moreover, the court

2 Id. at 1240.

21 Id.

28 Cahlin 936 F.2d at 1157.
29 Id. at 1157-58.

% SeeTaylor v. Screening Reports, IndNo. 13 C 02886, 2015 WL
4052824, at *3 (N.D. Ill. July 2, 2015) (collecting circuit court opinions).

sl 734 F.2d 37 (D.C. Cir. 1984).
32 Id. at 40.
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noted that the purpose of Act — to ensfiaé and equitable” credit reporting —would
not be promoted by reports that arentgically accurate but materially misleaditig.
Here, the Defenads contend,nter alia, that the Plaintiff has failed to
adequately allege a willful violation & 1681e(b). To state a claim for willfulness,
a plaintiff must demonstrate “that a canger reporting agency either knowingly or
recklessly violated the requirements of the A€tA consumer reporting agency
recklessly violates the FCRA when #@stions are “not only a violation under a
reasonable reading of the statute’s terms,shows that the company ran a risk of
violating the law substantially greater thaa tisk associated with a reading that was
merely careless®® “Thus, even if a consumeaeporting agency engages in an
erroneous reading of the statute,ist not reckless unless it was objectively

unreasonable®® “A reading will be unreasonable when ‘the business subject to the

¥ d.

34 SeelLevine v. World Fin. Network Nat'| Banks54 F.3d 1314, 1318
(11th Cir. 2009) (citing Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. BE$1 U.S. 47, 70 (2007)).

% Id. (quoting_Safeco551 U.S. at 69).

% Smith v. HireRight Sols., Inc711 F. Supp. 2426, 434 (E.D. Pa. 2010)
(citing Safecp551 U.S. at 69)).
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[FCRA] had the benefit of guidance frometltourts of appeals or [a regulatory
agency] . . . that might have warned it away from the view it toBk.”

The Plaintiff argues that the Defendants recklessly violated § 1681e(b).
Specifically, the Complaint alleges that the Defendants were on notice that negative,
inaccurate authorized user informatiappeared on their credit reports and was
hurting consumers’ credit scor€And that this action amounts to a willful violation
of 8§ 1681le(b)’'s mandate to “follow reasdme procedures to assure maximum
possible accuracy of the infoation” in consumer reports.

In response, the Defendardontend that their reading of the FCRA mandate
is not objectively unreasonable. Theygae that because there are differing
interpretations of “inaccuracy” under 8 168ik interpreting the section to allow
technically accurate information on theonsumer credit reports is not objectively
unreasonable. Second, they contend theattis no authoritative guidance that states
reporting truthful, negative authorized user information on a credit report is
inaccurate. In support of this contention, they note that the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau “has expressly auibhed creditors to send authorized user

tradeline information to consumer reportingagies for inclusion in authorized users’

3 Id. (quoting_Safeco551 U.S. at 70).
% Compl. 17 39-40.
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credit reports * They also cite to Bailey v. Equifax Information Services, | irC

which the Eastern District dflichigan held that it wasot technically inaccurate to
list truthful, negative authorized user information on a credit réport.

The Court agrees with the Defendantsgaithe lack of claty regarding which
standard of inaccuracy is appropriate, the Court cannot say that the Defendants’
interpretation is objectively unreasonali®lainly — under the technically accurate
approach — listing accurate authorizedruaformation does not violate 8 1681e(b).
With regard to relevantotirt and agency authority,d@lDefendants point to both a
district court decision and guidance frdme Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
that indicate listing authorized user inf@ation on credit reports is not a violation of
the FCRA¥

The Plaintiff, on the other hand, daast cite to any guidance from relevant

federal agencies that warns against listing authorized user information on credit

39

Reply Br. in Supp. of Def.’s Moto Dismiss, at 6; see ald@ C.F.R. pt.
1002, supp. |, § 1002.10 (official interpretations).

40 No. 13-10377, 2013 WL 3305710, at *5 (E.D. Mich. July 1, 2013).

4 SeeSafecp551 U.S. at 70 n.20 (noting thatdefendant cannot be liable
for a knowing or reckless violation of tf&CRA if the statutory text and relevant
judicial and federal agency guidance allowmore than one reasonable interpretation
of the Act).

42 SeeBailey, 2013 WL 3305710, at *5; 12 C.F.R. pt. 1002, supp. |, §
1002.10.
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reports. Moreover, the two judicial opiniotiee Plaintiff cites to in support of her

argument are distinguishable from this c&sk Fahey v. Experian Information

Solutions, Ing.the Eastern District of Missouri held that the plaintiff had adequately

alleged a willful violation of § 1681e(l3j But, there, the platiff had challenged the
factual accuracy of his credit rep6ttSpecifically, the plaintiff alleged that the
consumer reporting agency had wrongly listed him as a joint obligor on two
delinquent accounts, even though Wife was the sole obligét Here, the Plaintiff
does not dispute that she was an autleoruser on the delinquent account listed on
her credit report’ Rather, she challenges the Defants’ choice to include the

delinquent account on her credit reg8in Price v. Trans Union, LLGhe issue at

hand was whether TransUnion violated § 1681e(b) by mixing the plaintiff's credit

4 SeeHorsch v. Wells Fargo Home Mori@4 F. Supp. 3d 665, 678 (E.D.
Pa. 2015) (holding that the plaintiffs failed to state a prima facie willfulness claim
under the FCRA because they failed to totany relevant federal judicial decisions
or federal regulators that ptlite defendant on notice thtt conduct was a violation
of the Act).

“ 571 F. Supp. 2d 1082, 1093 (E.D. Mo. 2008).
% ]d. at 1084.

46 Id.

4 Compl. 1 17, 20.

48 Id. 1 40.
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information with another consumer’s credit informatféhe court held that the
plaintiff adequately alleged a willful viali@n because “at least three court of appeals
had construed the meaning of § 1681e(b)regdil ransUnion] in mixed file cases,”

and the FTC had specifically warned credit reporting agencies to review their
procedures when a mixed file case océlihe Plaintiff, herehas failed to cite to

any authority advising the Defendants against reporting accurate authorized user
information.

In sum, the Plaintiff has not adequatalleged a willful violation of §
1681e(b). The Court cannot say that théebdants’ interpretation of § 1681e(b) is
objectively unreasonable, and the authorities cited by the Defendants contradict the
Plaintiff’'s claim that the Defendants willlly violated § 1681e(b) by including the
Plaintiff’'s authorized user informatioan their credit reports. Consequently, the
Plaintiff's FCRA claims are dismissed.

V. Conclusion
For these reasons, the Court GRANTS the Defendants Equifax, Inc. and

TransUnion, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss [Doc. 38].

% 737 F. Supp. 2d 281, 283-84 (E.D. Pa. 2010).
0 |d. at 290.

T:\ORDERS\15\Pedro\mtdtwt.wpd -12-



SO ORDERED, this 12 day of May, 2016.

/s/IThomas W. Thrash
THOMAS W. THRASH, JR.
United States District Judge
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